R34
Legislative Council

LC Paper No. CB(2)1947/16-17
(These minutes have been
seen by the Administration)

Ref : CB2/PL/HS

Panel on Health Services

Minutes of meeting
held on Tuesday, 28 February 2017, at 10:30 am
in Conference Room 2 of the Legislative Council Complex

Members X Prof Hon Joseph LEE Kok-long, SBS, JP (Chairman)
present Dr Hon Pierre CHAN (Deputy Chairman)
Hon Tommy CHEUNG Yu-yan, GBS, JP
Hon WONG Ting-kwong, SBS, JP
Hon CHAN Kin-por, BBS, JP
Hon Paul TSE Wai-chun, JP
Hon LEUNG Kwok-hung
Hon YIU Si-wing, BBS
Hon CHAN Chi-chuen
Hon CHAN Han-pan, JP
Hon Alice MAK Mei-kuen, BBS, JP
Dr Hon KWOK Ka-Ki
Dr Hon Fernando CHEUNG Chiu-hung
Dr Hon Helena WONG Pik-wan
Dr Hon Elizabeth QUAT, JP
Hon POON Siu-ping, BBS, MH
Hon CHU Hoi-dick
Dr Hon Junius HO Kwan-yiu, JP
Hon SHIU Ka-fai
Hon YUNG Hoi-yan
Hon Jeremy TAM Man-ho

Members : Hon Charles Peter MOK, JP
absent Hon SHIU Ka-chun

[According to the Judgment of the Court of First Instance of the High Court on 14 July 2017,
LEUNG Kwok-hung, Nathan LAW Kwun-chung, YIU Chung-yim and LAU Siu-lai have
been disqualified from assuming the office of a member of the Legislative Council, and have
vacated the same since 12 October 2016, and are not entitled to act as a member of the
Legislative Council.]



-2-

Public Officers : Items V to VII
attending

Prof Sophia CHAN Siu-chee, JP
Under Secretary for Food and Health

Item V

Miss Fiona CHAU

Principal Assistant Secretary for Food and Health
(Health)

Food and Health Bureau

Dr Edwin TSUI

Assistant Director of Health (Traditional Chinese
Medicine)

Department of Health

Mr Stephen YUNG
Senior Pharmacist (Traditional Chinese Medicine)
Department of Health

Item VI

Mr Chris SUN Yuk-han, JP
Head, Healthcare Planning and Development Office
Food and Health Bureau

Mr Bill LI Chi-pang

Deputy Head, Healthcare Planning and Development
Office

Food and Health Bureau

Dr Amy CHIU Pui-yin, JP

Head, Office for Regulation of Private Healthcare
Facilities

Department of Health

Dr FUNG Ying

Principal Medical and Health Officer (Private Healthcare
Facilities) 2

Department of Health



Action

Clerkin

attendance

Staff in

attendance

Item VII

Miss Amy YUEN
Deputy Secretary for Food and Health (Health) 2
Food and Health Bureau

Ms Wendy AU Wan-sze

Principal Assistant Secretary for Food and Health
(Health) Special Duties 1

Food and Health Bureau

Dr Jeff LEE Pui-man
Head (Tobacco Control Office)
Department of Health

Ms Maisie LAM
Chief Council Secretary (2) 5

Ms Janet SHUM
Senior Council Secretary (2) 5

Ms Priscilla LAU
Council Secretary (2) 5

Miss Maggie CHIU
Legislative Assistant (2) 5

[LC Paper

Information paper(s) issued since the last meeting
Nos. CB(2)644/16-17(01), CB(2)729/16-17(01),
CB(2)806/16-17(01), CB(2)829/16-17(01), CB(2)839/16-17(01) and

CB(2)876/16-17(01)]

Members noted the following papers issued since the last meeting:

(@) Letter dated 16 January 2017 from Dr KWOK Ka-Kki
suggesting the Panel to discuss the Recommended HIV/AIDS
Strategy for Hong Kong (2017-2021) formulated by the Hong

Kong Advisory Council on AIDS;

(b) Letter dated 25 January 2017 from Ms YUNG Hoi-yan
concerning the financial and project management of the works



-4 -

Action
projects of the Prince of Wales Hospital and the
Administration's response to the issues raised therein;

(c) Letter dated 14 February 2017 from Dr Pierre CHAN
requesting the Panel to discuss issues relating to the sexual
assault cases of the psychiatric wards of the Hospital Authority;

(d) Information paper provided by the Administration in February
2017 on the Hospital Authority's annual report on the use of
the $13 billion one-off grant for the carrying out of minor
works projects for its facilities; and

(¢) Referral memorandum from the Public Accounts Committee
on the provision of health services for the elderly.

Il.  Items for discussion at the next meeting
[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)859/16-17(01) and (02)]

2. Members agreed to discuss the following items at the next regular
meeting scheduled for 20 March 2017 at 4:30 pm:

(@) Policy on and drugs for rare diseases; and

(b) Hong Kong Code of Marketing of Formula Milk and Related
Products, and Food Products for Infants & Young Children.

1.  Matters arising from the special meeting on 13 February 2017
[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)859/16-17(03) to (05)]

3. The Chairman recapitulated that pursuant to the decision of the Panel
at the special meeting on 13 February 2017, the three motions proposed by
Dr Elizabeth QUAT, Dr Fernando CHEUNG and Mr SHIU Ka-fai
respectively at the meeting under the agenda item "Proposed regulatory
framework for medical devices" were carried forward to be dealt with at
this meeting. Members noted Mr SHIU Ka-fai's amendment to his motion
which was tabled at the meeting.

The motions

4. Dr Elizabeth QUAT moved the following motion:



javascript:void(0);

Action

-5-

ARG ERBUFRROLEIEEUT » RERF > Ea L EmER
EFGH R R YT WEREEFUS DR PR R E
WETfE N EHSEREGEFERGVARRE - ERET
RLZZ0EE - DABPIERETEFVEFZEH -

BEAh - A BRI A R S22 S8 51 R 1 1L M 0 1 B R 1 e 2
TR ESEHRPOR - MAVE RSB R > HEB R AAF L
EERENEETES  BAEEXERUFEER MR
fE R E IR R EERE - "

(Translation)

"This Panel requests the Government to, on the premise that at least
half of the representatives are from the beauty sector, establish a
deliberation platform comprising representatives from the
Government, the beauty sector, manufacturers of devices and the
medical sector to clearly define medical devices and cosmetic
devices afresh so as to protect public safety without throttling the
development of the beauty sector.

In addition, this Panel requests the Government to establish an
independent regulatory regime for the beauty sector and formulate a
comprehensive strategy for the industry's development, including,
among others, the regulation of cosmetic devices, promoting the
professionalization of beauticians, and the monitoring of trade and
sales practices, so as to facilitate sustainable development of the
beauty industry in Hong Kong and enhance the protection for the
public in the use of beauty services."

Dr Fernando CHEUNG moved the following motion:

"AREEGERERRIEREERES - Han B R SR
FarUHEMEH G EREMHE B®K - Al 2BUFie 1L
BRIRE MG - B - AR B G (2 BUT EHTa LA
ERERES LA TIENE - RE R EIGEA - 2
HoBAE IR HMMHMEREANES  BEMESGELE
H®E > XEF > DRFHE > URRILEEEARE - DMRE
mRZ -



Action

-6-

(Translation)

"This Panel agrees that legislation for regulating medical devices
should be expeditiously introduced. At present, while Hong Kong
falls far behind in respect of its regulation of the sale and use of
medical devices, the paper provided by the Government on the
relevant legislative proposals was prepared in a slipshod manner and
without sufficient consultation. This Panel therefore urges the
Government to establish afresh a working group to provide
legislation for the regulation of medical devices, with particular
emphasis on differentiation between medical devices and cosmetic
devices.  Members of the working group should comprise
physiotherapists, academics, medical practitioners, and other relevant
professionals, etc. The working group so set up should clearly
categorize such devices into those for medical purposes, cosmetic
purposes and for domestic use, so that legislation can be
expeditiously introduced to put such devices under a comprehensive
regulatory regime to protect public safety."

Mr SHIU Ka-fai moved the following motion:

"EREBUTE RERERD (BB B EaERRE) M
BT - BB A B R R AT RAAERE  HRIITH AT
FaE » AR BEGERE RYIER KA R IR & - =
AT RS RAE PRI 2 4 2 RS (R R AT ] — {1 36 57
HUETEE T Gl F 58 R B 8 FH 5 R 58 25 P ik B £ A FRUES 70 B
R KRR HMIHE R T AT EGFR - "

(Translation)

"Given that the proposed regulatory framework for medical devices
currently provided by the Administration was prepared in an
extremely slipshod manner, which will seriously distort the ecology
of the healthcare and beauty sectors and the feasibility of its practical
implementation is questionable, this Panel requests the
Administration to withhold its current legislative plan, launch afresh
a comprehensive consultation exercise, and, on the premise of
protecting public safety without tilting in favour of any single sector,
study in detail the adoption of two separate regulatory regimes for
medical devices and cosmetic devices for the submission of new
regulatory proposals respectively for these two types of devices for
consideration by this Panel."



Action

-7-

7. The Chairman invited members' views on the motions before putting
them to vote. Mr SHIU Ka-fai cast doubt as to whether the relevant
legislation could be expeditiously introduced into the Legislative Council
("LegCao") as referred to in Dr Fernando CHEUNG's motion, as it took time
for different stakeholders to deliberate on the refinements to the regulatory
framework for medical devices currently proposed by the Administration.

8. In response to Mr YIU Si-wing, Dr Fernando CHEUNG elaborated
that the other relevant professionals as referred to in his motion could
include, among others, representatives from the beauty sector and
manufacturers of devices, as well as optometrists. Mr WONG Ting-kwong
held the view that beauty devices, medical devices and optometry devices
should be subject to separate regulatory frameworks.

Q. Dr Junius HO remarked that to improve the clarity of Dr Fernando
CHEUNG's motion, the professionals as referred to by Dr Fernando
CHEUNG in paragraph 8 above should be set out in the motion. In his
view, representative of the beauty sector should form the majority of the
relevant discussion platform. He noted that such requirement was set out in
the motion moved by Dr Elizabeth QUAT. Dr Elizabeth QUAT explained
that her motion was drawn up against the background that the use control
currently proposed by the Administration only covered the devices for
cosmetic purposes and the current proposal would stifle the development of
the beauty industry. In her view, devices which were for cosmetic but not
medical purposes should be regulated under a separate regime.
Ms YUNG Hoi-yan was of a similar view. Dr KWOK Ka-ki expressed
disappointment that the Administration had turned a deaf ear to the call for
introducing a regulatory regime for the beauty industry. In the absence of
the above, those medical devices for cosmetic purposes which would pose a
high risk of serious injury or harm to the public if used inappropriately
should be subject to regulation in order to safeguard public health. He
would support Dr Fernando CHEUNG's motion.

10. Dr Fernando CHEUNG remarked that since the issues of concern
covered different stakeholders, it would be difficult to determine which
sector should have a greater representation in the relevant multi-party
discussion platform. This apart, it should be noted that the aim of the
regulatory framework was for regulating medical devices, albeit that these
devices might be used for different purposes. Ms Alice MAK said that
while she understood the concerns raised by Dr Fernando CHEUNG, past
experience revealed that the concerns of the beauty sector could not be
properly addressed when the medical and other healthcare professionals
dominated the discussion of a multi-party working group.




Action

-8-

11.  Mr CHAN Chi-chuen said that he was in agreement with most of the
views put forward by Dr Elizabeth QUAT in her motion. However, he
would abstain from voting on the motion as he could not agree that
representatives of the beauty sector should account for a greater proportion
in the membership of a platform being set up for deliberating on the
regulatory framework for medical devices. He considered the regulatory
framework for medical devices currently proposed by the Administration
slipshod. Hence, the current-term Government should not just leave out the
use control of specified medical devices and introduce a bill focusing on
the other parts of the regulatory regime for medical devices into LegCo in a
hasty manner. Mr Paul TSE remarked that the current proposal of the
Administration had failed to strike a proper balance.

12.  Dr Junius HO moved the following amendments to Dr Fernando
CHEUNG's motion:

AZEGEFRERFRIDERE R ES o BT H R
Foan WIHEMGH T EHREHER®R - A2BUFEHIL
R IRE G RER N 2 o A& B R ES BUR BT s LM
ERRERGILENIENNL . Bl EREREFNEE G
B - LEECOEYBEIGEE > 28 WL XEFEXER B
A EED A D MR ERANES - MRS
DHBBREMAE  XE > UIRFHEF > URRIIEZEA
g DRETRRZ 2 -

(Translation)

"This Panel agrees that legislation for regulating medical devices
should be expeditiously introduced. At present, while Hong Kong
falls far behind in respect of its regulation of the sale and use of
medical devices, the paper provided by the Government on the
relevant legislative proposals was prepared in a slipshod manner and
without sufficient consultation. This Panel therefore urges the
Government to establish afresh a working group to provide
legislation for the regulation of medical devices, with particular
emphasis on differentiation between medical devices and cosmetic
devices.  Members of the working group should comprise
physiotherapists, academics, medical practitioners, the beauty sector,
manufacturers of devices, optometrists, other relevant professionals,
etc. The working group so set up should clearly categorize such
devices into those for medical purposes, cosmetic purposes and for
domestic use, so that legislation can be expeditiously introduced to



Action

-9-

put such devices under a comprehensive regulatory regime to protect
public safety."

(Note: The amendment is marked in bold and italic type)

13. The Chairman then put each of the motions to vote. At members'
request, the Chairman ordered that the voting bell be rung for five minutes
to notify Panel members of the voting. At Dr Pierre CHAN's request,
the Chairman ordered that a division would be taken on each of the motions.

\Voting on the motions

14.  The Chairman put Dr Elizabeth QUAT's motion to vote.

The following 10 members voted in favour of the motion:

Mr CHAN Kin-por, Mr Paul TSE, Mr YIU Si-wing, Mr CHAN Han-pan,
Ms Alice MAK, Dr Elizabeth QUAT, Mr POON Siu-ping, Dr Junius HO,
Mr SHIU Ka-fai and Ms YUNG Hoi-yan.

The following three members voted against the motion:

Dr KWOK Ka-ki, Dr Fernando CHEUNG and Dr Pierre CHAN.

The following member abstained:

Mr CHAN Chi-chuen.

15. The Chairman declared that that the motion was carried.

16. The Chairman put the motion moved by Dr Fernando CHEUNG and
as amended by Dr Junius HO to vote.

The following 11 members voted in favour of the motion:

Mr CHAN Kin-por, Mr Paul TSE, Mr YIU Si-wing, Mr CHAN Chi-chuen,
Mr CHAN Han-pan, Dr Fernando CHEUNG, Dr Elizabeth QUAT,
Mr POON Siu-ping, Dr Junius HO, Mr SHIU Ka-fai and Ms YUNG Hoi-yan.
No member voted against the motion.

The following three members abstained:

Ms Alice MAK, Dr KWOK Ka-ki and Dr Pierre CHAN.



Action

Admin

-10 -

17. The Chairman declared that the motion as amended was carried.

18. The Chairman put Mr SHIU Ka-fai's motion to vote.

The following 10 members voted in favour of the motion:

Mr CHAN Kin-por, Mr Paul TSE, Mr YIU Si-wing, Mr CHAN Chi-chuen,
Mr CHAN Han-pan, Dr Elizabeth QUAT, Mr POON  Siu-ping,
Dr Junius HO, Mr SHIU Ka-fai and Ms YUNG Hoi-yan.

The following three members voted against the motion:

Dr KWOK Ka-ki, Dr Fernando CHEUNG and Dr Pierre CHAN.

The following member abstained:

Ms Alice MAK.

19. The Chairman declared that the motion was carried.

20. The Chairman directed that the Administration be requested to
provide a written response to the motions.

IV. Proposal for setting up a joint subcommittee under the Panel on
Health Services and the Panel on Commerce and Industry on
issues relating to the regulation of devices and development of
the beauty industry
[LC Paper No. CB(2)793/16-17(01)]

21. Members raised no objection to the proposal from Mr SHIU Ka-fai
for setting up a joint subcommittee under the Panel and the Panel on
Commerce and Industry (“the CI Panel™) on issues relating to the regulation
of devices and development of the beauty industry, and the terms of
reference and work plan of the joint subcommittee set out in the proposal.

22.  Members noted that there were currently 10 subcommittees on policy
issues appointed by Panels or the House Committee in operation, which
had reached the maximum number of such subcommittees that might be in
operation at any one time. The joint subcommittee would be put on the
waiting list of subcommittees on policy issues to be activated.
The Chairman said that the CI Panel had suggested that a joint meeting of
the two Panels should be held in the interim to discuss issues relating to the
regulation of devices and development of the beauty industry. Members




Action

-11 -

agreed. Dr KWOK Ka-ki remarked that any discussion on issues relating
to devices of the beauty industry would only be meaningful if the
Administration had decided on how it would take forward the legislative
proposal on regulating medical devices.

[At this juncture, the Chairman decided that the meeting be extended for
15 minutes beyond its appointed time.]

V. Legislative proposal for conferring power on the Director of
Health to issue recall order under the Chinese Medicine
Ordinance (Cap. 549)

[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)859/16-17(06) to (09)]

23.  Under Secretary for Food and Health ("USFH") briefed members on
the legislative proposal for conferring power on the Director of Health
("DoH") under the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Cap. 549) (“"the Ordinance")
to make decision to order any person to recall from the market any
proprietary Chinese medicines ("pCm™) or Chinese herbal medicines under
specified circumstances (“the legislative proposal on Chinese medicines"),
details of which were set out in the Administration's paper (LC Paper No.
CB(2)859/16-17(06)).

24. Members noted the following papers on or relevant to the subject
under discussion:

(@) information note entitled "Legislative proposal for conferring
power on the Director of Health to issue recall order under the
Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Cap.549)" prepared by the
LegCo Secretariat (LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-17(08));

(b) the Administration's information paper entitled "Regulation of
pesticide residues and heavy metals in Chinese herbal
medicines" (LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-17(07)); and

(c) background briefs entitled "Regulation of pesticide residues
and heavy metal in Chinese herbal medicines" prepared by the
LegCo Secretariat (LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-17(09)).

The recall order

25. Mr CHAN Han-pan welcomed the legislative proposal on Chinese
medicines which could fill the lacuna in the Ordinance as set out in
paragraph 8 of the Administration's paper which he had long called for.




Action

-12 -

Expressing support for the legislative proposal on Chinese medicines,
Mr CHAN Kin-bor sought elaboration about the grounds for issuing a

recall order and the mechanism for appealing against a recall decision.

26. USFH advised that under the legislative proposal on Chinese
medicines, DoH would order any person (regardless of whether the person
was a licensed trader under the Ordinance or not) who had supplied
Chinese herbal medicines, pCm and/or intermediate product generated in
the course of manufacturing a pCm (“intermediate product™) to recall the
product concerned from the market and to withdraw the same from being
supplied should DoH had reasonable cause to believe, at the time of
making the recall decision, that such products were dangerous or injurious
to health, or unfit for use by human being; or the order was necessary to
prevent or reduce a possibility of danger to public health, or to mitigate any
adverse consequence of a danger to public health; or the products were
being sold or distributed in contravention of the Ordinance, such as Chinese
herbal medicines being sold or distributed without licence, unregistered
pCms being sold, pCms being sold without a package insert which
complied with the prescribed requirements, and pCms being sold were in a
package not being labelled in the prescribed manner.

27. Noting that DoH currently did not have the statutory power to make
decision on recalling Chinese herbal medicines or pCms from the market,
Mr CHAN Kin-bor enquired about the actions to be taken by DoH in the
interim should the products concerned were found meeting the above
criteria for the issuance of a recall order. USFH advised that the existing
law had provided for the restriction on sale of Chinese herbal medicines
and pCms under specified circumstances.

28. Ms Alice MAK expressed support for the legislative proposal on
Chinese medicines. However, she noted that some Chinese herbal
medicines traders had grave concern about the operation details of the
recall. She called on the Administration to fully communicate with the
trade before introducing this legislative proposal into LegCo.

29. USFH advised that in January 2017, DH had conducted a meeting
with 16 Chinese medicines traders associations and six sessions of briefing
forums for licensed Chinese medicines traders on the legislative proposal
on Chinese medicines. Assistant Director of Health (Traditional Chinese
medicine) ("ADoH(TCM)") supplemented that 164 members of the trade
had participated in the above activities. Separately, the submissions DH
received during the public consultation exercise on the legislative proposal
on Chinese medicines which ended on 26 February 2017 were all in
support of the proposal. While the licensed Chinese medicine traders




Action

-13 -

supported in principle the proposal as they had already been required under
the Chinese Medicines Regulation (Cap. 549F) to set up and maintain a
system of recall of Chinese herbal medicines and pCms, DH would
continue to communicate with the traders on the operation details of the
proposed recall order.

30. Mr SHIU Ka-fai remarked that members of the Chinese medicines
traders associations supported in principle the legislative proposal on
Chinese medicines. However, they had concerns on various operational
Issues such as the time to be given for the traders to recall the products
concerned; whether products that had been supplied to places outside Hong
Kong would be subject to recall; whether licensed wholesalers of Chinese
medicines products would be held liable if the retailers concerned did not
return all their stock on hand; and the maximum penalty for non-
compliance which was proposed to be a fine at level 6 (i.e. $100,000) and
imprisonment for two years. ADOH(TCM) advised that a Chinese
medicine trader bound by a recall order should recall, to the extent
reasonably possible, the products already supplied. As was the case under
the recall system set up and maintained by the trade, the wholesalers
concerned should report the progress of recall, including whether the
retailers concerned had returned all the recalled products, to DH. It should
also be noted that the proposed level of penalty for non-compliance was in
line with the existing level of penalty for most of the other offences under
the Ordinance. Ms YUNG Hoi-yan opined that it should be provided for in
the relevant bill that a person committed an offence in this regard only if
the person, without reasonable excuse, failed to comply with the recall
order.

31.  Expressing support to the legislative proposal on Chinese medicines,
Mr Y1U Si-wing sought clarification as to whether a recall order would be
applied on those retailers selling the pCm concerned but were not licensed
traders under the Ordinance. USFH replied in the positive.

Testing of Chinese herbal medicines

32. Dr KWOK Ka-ki expressed support for the legislative proposal on
Chinese medicines. Noting that there were some 4 660 licensed retailers
and 930 licensed wholesalers of Chinese herbal medicines in Hong Kong,
he called on the Administration to increase the number of samples of
Chinese herbal medicines drawn from the market for testing of pesticide
residues (including organochlorine pesticide residues) and heavy metals
contents in tandem with the conferring of power upon DoH for issuance of
recall order under the Ordinance. He sought information about the current
numbers in this regard and the proportion of these numbers to the total




Action

Admin

-14 -

number of Chinese herbal medicines sold in Hong Kong.
Dr Helena WONG was in supportive of the legislative proposal on Chinese
medicines. Noting that the proposal would confer statutory power on DoH
to order any person to recall from the market, among others, any Chinese
herbal medicines which might pose threats to public health, she enquired
about the measures being put in place to monitor the quality and safety of
Chinese herbal medicines imported from the Mainland into Hong Kong.

33. ADOoH(TCM) advised that various regulatory controls were imposed
on the 605 types of Chinese herbal medicines listed in Schedules 1 and 2 to
the Ordinance. For instance, all the 31 types of Chinese herbal medicines
listed in Schedule 1 and five Chinese herbal medicines listed in Schedule 2
were subject to import and export control. Any person who engaged in
retail and wholesale business of Chinese herbal medicines had to obtain a
licence from the Chinese Medicines Board and comply with the relevant
practising guidelines, which included ensuring that the Chinese herbal
medicines traded by them were of good quality and suitable to be used. It
was noted that all Chinese herbal medicines manufacturing facilities in the
Mainland should meet the Good Manufacturing Practice standards. At
present, around 300 out of these 605 types of Chinese herbal medicines
were commonly being sold in Hong Kong. DH had already increased the
targeted number of market surveillance samples of Chinese herbal
medicines, at both wholesale and retail levels, from 30 to 45 per month,
with a view to covering all Chinese herbal medicines commonly available
for sale in local market within a year. At the request of the Chairman,
USFH agreed to provide after the meeting a written response on the
information requested by Dr KWOK Ka-ki.

34. Referring to Annex | to LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-17(07),
Dr Helena WONG expressed concern that the organophosphorus pesticide
residues in Chinese herbal medicines being tested by DH only covered 17
types, and were different from the types of organophosphorus pesticide
residues in food being tested by the Centre for Food Safety.

35. ADoH(TCM) advised that standards for pesticide residues and heavy
metal contents in Chinese herbal medicines were not the same as that
provided for food. The standards used for testing of these contents in
Chinese herbal medicines sold in Hong Kong, which covered 37 pesticide
residues (including 20 organochlorine pesticides and 17 organophosphorus
pesticides) and four heavy metal contents, were formulated by the Chinese
Medicine Council of Hong Kong with reference to other international
standards, including those of the World Health Organization and those set
by different countries or regions for herbs or raw materials of natural plant
preparations. In selecting these 37 contents for testing, due consideration




Action

- 15 -

had been given to their toxicity, residual effect, popularity and prohibition
or restriction in import, export and usage internationally.
Dr Helena WONG considered that the Panel should further discuss the

safety standard and surveillance of pesticide residues and heavy metal in
Chinese herbal medicines at a future meeting. Members raised no
objection.

Scope of the current legislative exercise

36. Mr CHAN Han-pan considered that the Administration should take
the opportunity of this legislative exercise to introduce a new category in
the existing pCm registration system to cover pCms with proven safety and
quality only; to allow applicants for formal registration of pCms to change
those active ingredients in the master formula that were banned or no
longer available; to provide a longer transitional period for pCms being
approved to migrate from transitional registration to formal registration;
and to regulate those products not consisted solely of Chinese medicine
materials and were currently regarded as "health food products".

37. USFH advised that the focus of the current legislative exercise was
confined to confer powers on DoH to prohibit, in specified circumstances,
the sale of Chinese medicines and other substances or compounds
generated in the course of manufacture of pCms and to recall, in specified
circumstances, the medicines, substances or compounds that had been sold.
DH would continue to address the other concerns of the trade on the
registration and regulation of pCms. ADoH(TCM) supplemented that at
present, around 7 700 pCm products had been issued with a "Notice of
confirmation of transitional registration of pCm". To facilitate the
application for formal registration of pCms, DH had regularly held
exchange sessions to help the trade to understand the requirements for
registration and exchange views on technical difficulties in establishing
product specifications.

Motion

38. Mr SHIU Ka-fai moved the following motion:

"AZBGRA EXFENE RS RigtH i EPIER - LUE
A O 8 1B B B R AT M Y o i B B A 4 & R R Y o 4
FEan o WEEOKE FE S8 PHEET R SC - BERA R B SR HY
PRUEAIERRS - EAE



Action

- 16 -

1. EAREGEZERJH"TEZEGS"E0E W
Hef P o 222 [ ] WS A

IE)

2. ARl S AR G EE ] A A A R O R A A (R

3. ftEmmEFFLEVCEREZ  EAEFRIEELR
b AHE YRR R 0 &

4. EEFEAEAT(E]F0100,000 7T K B 2K R ) 18 07 L
B HEEREFEEHRK "

(Translation)

"This Panel, while supporting in principle the Administration's
current legislative amendment proposal to more effectively prohibit
the trading of unregistered proprietary Chinese medicines or Chinese
medicine products having safety problems, requests the
Administration to take into account the concerns and worries of the
trade in drafting the amendments to the provisions of the legislation
which include:

1. whether there will be sufficient time would be provided for the
trade to recall the products concerned after receiving "Chinese
Medicine Safety Order" from the Director of Health ;

2. how the criterion "to the extent reasonably possible” will be
defined in recalling products that have already been supplied;

3. which party is to be held liable for the breach if customers,
after receiving a recall notice from suppliers, have failed to
return the products concerned; and

4.  given that the penalty proposed by the Administration (i.e. a
fine of $100,000 and imprisonment for two years) is too harsh,
it is hoped that the Administration will lower the penalty to an
appropriate level."

The Chairman ruled that the motion was related to the agenda item

under discussion, and invited members to consider whether the motion
should be proceeded with at this meeting. Members agreed.



Action

-17 -

40. Mr CHAN Han-pan said that he would support the motion. He urged
the Administration to address the concerns of the trade as set out in the
motion. Dr Helena WONG said that she could not support the last item in
the motion as it was necessary to have the penalty set at a level which could
achieve sufficient deterrent effect to safeguard public health.
Dr Fernando CHEUNG said that he would abstain from voting on the
motion as he could not judge at this stage whether the proposed level of
penalty was too severe.

41.  Dr Junius HO moved the following amendments to the motion:

"KZEGFEA EXFBE RS et EpEE - LLES
SACth 8 1b A B R KL S A HY o i B B AE A 4 T Y g
b WEEKE R EEFABIEET TROCE - BERE KR R AV R £
MEZRE S HEfHEEELR

1. mFRFREEEE SR g
Efﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%’]ﬁﬁaﬁf‘@@[ﬁldilf’ﬁ

2. HHMERSUEAE" S B A R RV L IE N R R A A Y
7 i [F] L

Wi S A R AE B BT 108 T B
B AT - "

(Translation)

"This Panel, while supporting in principle the Administration's
current legislative amendment proposal to more effectively prohibit
the trading of unregistered proprietary Chinese medicines or Chinese
medicine products having safety problems, requests the
Administration to take into account the concerns and worries of the
trade in drafting the amendments to the provisions of the legislation,
and such-concernsand-worries-taelude: in particular, the Director of
Health should:



Action

-18 -

1. whether-there-wit-be provide sufficient time for the trade to
recall the products concerned afterreceiving when issuing a
"Chinese Medicine Safety Order"-frem-the-Director-of Health;

2. hew specify that the criterion "to the extent reasonably
possible" wi-be-defined-inrecathng is only applicable to the

recall of products that have already been supplied; and

H—ls—heped—that—the—Admmﬁtranen—wuHower the penalty to an

appropriate level as the current penalty of a fine of $100,000
and imprisonment for two years is too harsh."

(Note: The amendment is marked in bold and italic type or with
deletion line)

42. The Chairman put the motion as amended to vote. Five members
voted for and one member voted against the motion as amended, and three
members abstained from voting. The Chairman declared that the motion as
amended was carried.

43. The Chairman directed that the Administration be requested to
provide a written response to the motion.

Way forward

44, Mr SHIU Ka-fai suggested that the Panel should invite interested
parties to give views on the legislative proposal. Pointing out that members
present at the meeting were all in principle supportive of the legislative
proposal and the Administration had agreed to further communicate with
the Chinese medicines trade to address their concerns on the operation
issues of the proposed recall order, the Chairman remarked that it would be
more appropriate for the bills committee to be set up to scrutinize the
relevant bill to invite public views on the details of the proposed recall
order. Members raised no objection.




Action

-19 -

VI. Legislative proposals for regulation of private healthcare
facilities
[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)845/16-17(01), CB(2)859/16-17(10) and
CB(2)896/16-17(01)]

45. USFH briefed members on the legislative proposals for
strengthening regulation of private healthcare facilities ("PHFs") ("the PHF
legislative proposals"), details of which were set out in the Administration's
paper (LC Paper No. CB(2)845/16-17(01)).

46. Members noted the background brief entitled "Legislative proposals
for regulation of private healthcare facilities" prepared by the LegCo
Secretariat (LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-17(10)); and a submission on the
proposal.

Types of PHFs to be requlated

47. Mr SHIU Ka-fai sought clarification as to whether beauty centres
would be subject to regulation under the PHF legislative proposals. USFH
advised that the new regulatory regime for PHFs would cover hospitals,
day procedure centres, clinics, and health services establishments. For day
procedure centres, they were referring to premises that were used for
carrying out, in an ambulatory setting, those medical procedures of higher
risks to be set out in a schedule to the relevant bill. Ms Alice MAK asked
whether the use of a medical device for beauty purposes would be a factor
to be taken into consideration in deciding whether a premises should be
regarded as a day procedure centre. USFH replied in the negative.

48. Dr Pierre CHAN expressed support for the direction of strengthening
regulation of PHFs. Noting that those high-risk medical procedures that
could be performed in day procedure centres would be set out in a schedule
to the relevant bill, he considered that any amendments to the schedule
should be subject to the positive vetting procedure under section 35 of the
Interpretation and General Clauses Ordinance (Cap. 1) such that Members
would have sufficient time to examine the amendments.

49. Head, Healthcare Planning and Development Office, Food and
Health Bureau ("H(HPDQO)") advised that the Administration's intention
was for the relevant schedule be subject to the negative vetting procedure
under section 34 of the Interpretation and General Clauses Ordinance, as
this would facilitate amendments more efficiently when regulatory need
arose so as to safeguard public health. That said, the Administration would
consider any views that members might have in the bills committee to be
set up to scrutinize the relevant bill.




Action

Admin

-20 -

50. Noting that it was proposed that those private clinics which involved
only solo or small group practice, say, operated by not more than
three/four/five registered medical practitioners or registered dentists, would
be exempted under the new regulatory regime on PHFs, Dr Helena WONG
sought information about the number of private clinics involved.

51. Head, Office for Regulation of Private Healthcare Facilities, DH
("H(ORPHF)") advised that DH was conducting a survey in this regard.
According to the preliminary data, there were around 6 000 medical and/or
dental ambulatory facilities in Hong Kong. Around 70% of the medical
and/or dental clinics were small practice clinics being operated by not more
than three registered medical practitioners or registered dentists. The
corresponding figure would be increased to around 80% if those clinics
being operated by four to five registered medical practitioners or registered
dentists were included into the calculation. In response to Mr SHIU Ka-
fai's enquiry as to whether day procedure centres operated by less than
three registered medical practitioners would likewise be exempted under
the new regulatory regime on PHFs, USFH replied in the negative.
The Chairman requested the Administration to provide in the LegCo brief
on the bill the information sought by Dr Helena WONG and the estimated
number of day procedure centres performing high-risk medical procedures
in the territory.

52.  Mr Tommy CHEUNG noted that the new piece of legislation for
implementing the new regulatory regime for PHFs, if enacted, would repeal,
among others, the Hospitals, Nursing Homes and Maternity Homes
Registration Ordinance (Cap. 165). He sought explanation as to the reason
why nursing homes providing care for elderly persons, which were
currently registered under the above Ordinance, would not be regulated
under the new regime for PHFs.

53. H(ORPHF) advised that residents of these registered nursing homes
did not require continuous and round-the-clock medical care. The great
majority of them received treatment from visiting medical practitioners
and/or dentists when needed. Hence, these nursing homes for the elderly
were not medical facilities and should not be regarded as such under the
new regulatory regime. Under the PHF legislative proposals, these nursing
homes would be transferred to be regulated under the Residential Care
Homes (Elderly Persons) Ordinance (Cap. 459) and its subsidiary
legislation.



Action

-21 -

Requlatory standards for PHFs

54. Dr Pierre CHAN called on the Administration to ensure that the
regulatory standards for clinics to be drawn up by DH and the Hong Kong
Academy of Medicine would not be pitched at such a high level that clinics
of small and medium sizes would find it difficult, if not impossible, to
comply with. USFH assured members that the Administration would
consult the stakeholders including, among others, registered medical
practitioners in private practice in the drafting of the regulatory standards
for clinics.

Proposed requirements on licensee and chief medical executive of a PHF

55. Mr_POON Siu-ping expressed support for the direction of
strengthening regulation of PHFs. Noting that the licensee of a PHF would
be required to appoint a chief medical executive to take charge of the day to
day administration of the facility, he asked whether the licensee and the
chief medical executive had to be two separate persons. USFH advised that
for private hospitals, the licensee and the chief medical executive had to be
different persons. This requirement did not apply to other PHFs.

Proposed requirements on complaints management

56. Referring to the two-tier complaints management system to handle
complaints against PHFs to be regulated under the new regime,
Ms Alice MAK asked what would constitute unresolved complaints at
service delivery level for taking up by the independent Committee on
Complaints against PHFs ("Complaints Committee™). USFH advised that
under the proposed two-tier complaints management system, the first-tier
should be at the service delivery level at which PHFs should manage
complaints at source. Complaint cases which could not be resolved at the
first-tier level would be handled by the Complaints Committee which
would make recommendations to the Director of Health on whether the
complaint (or a part of the complaint) was substantiated or not.
Dr Pierre CHAN considered that an appeal mechanism should be put in
place under the complaints management system. H(HPDO) responded that
the second-tier Complaints Committee could provide an appropriate check
and balance.

57. Mr SHIU Ka-fai noted that it was proposed that at least half of the
members of the Complaints Committee would be lay persons. Expressing
concern about whether representatives from the beauty sector could serve
as lay members of the Complaints Committee, he sought elaboration on the
sectors these lay persons would be belonged to. H(HPDQO) advised that the




Action

-22 -

lay members had to be persons who were neither registered medical
practitioners nor registered dentists. The Administration's initial thought
was that these persons might include representatives from patients groups
and the Consumer Council, as well as members of other professions or
business sectors.

Proposed requirements on price transparency

58. Mr POON Siu-ping noted that under the PHF legislative proposals,
licensees of private hospitals would be required to, among others, put in
place a budget estimate system, and publish historical statistics on fees and
charges in respect of the treatments and procedures specified by DoH for
enhancing price transparency. To try out these price transparency measures,
a pilot programme had been rolled out by the Administration, together with
the Hong Kong Private Hospitals Association, in October 2016. He sought
information about the implementation of the pilot programme.
Mr Tommy CHEUNG considered it of utmost importance to expeditiously
enhance the price transparency of private hospitals.

59. H(ORPHF) advised that as of December 2016, about 50% of the
inpatient admission cases for receiving the specified common and non-
emergency operations or procedures were provided with budget estimates
before admission. At the suggestion of members at the Panel meeting in
November 2016, DH was in the course of developing a webpage to provide
the list of common operations or procedures for provision of budget
estimates, as well as enabling patients to have convenient access to the
historical bill sizes statistics released by private hospitals on their
respective websites.

Legislative timetable

60. Mr Tommy CHEUNG expressed concern that according to the 2016-
2017 Legislative Programme provided by the Administration to the House
Committee (LC Paper No. CB(2)20/16-17(01)), there were four pieces of
legislation which the Health Branch of the Food and Health Bureau
planned to introduce into LegCo in the remainder of the 2016-2017
legislative session. He urged the Administration to introduce the relevant
bill on regulating PHFs into LegCo as early as possible. Mr SHIU Ka-fai
expressed a similar view.

61. USFH advised that the Administration planned to introduce the bill
into LegCo in the first half of 2017. This apart, it would introduce the bills
on amendments to the Chinese Medicine Ordinance and the Medical
Registration Ordinance (Cap. 161) in the second quarter of 2017. It also



Action

-23 -

planned to focus efforts on the legislative exercise for "pre-market control"
and "post-market control" of medical devices, while the part on use control
for selected medical devices would be revisited later.

Way forward

62. Mr Tommy CHEUNG suggested the Panel to invite stakeholders to
give views on the PHF legislative proposals. Ms Alice MAK considered it
more appropriate for the bills committee to be set up to scrutinize the
relevant bill to receive views on the details of the bill. Dr Helena WONG
expressed a similar view. Ms Alice MAK requested that a vote be taken on
Mr Tommy CHEUNG's proposal. At the request of Mr SHIU Ka-fai,
the Chairman ordered that the voting bell be rung for five minutes to notify
Panel members of the voting; and that a division would be taken.

63. The Chairman put to vote the question that the Panel should receive
public views on the PHF legislative proposals.

The following three members voted in favour of the question:
Mr Tommy CHEUNG, Mr YIU Si-wing and Mr SHIU Ka-fai.
The following six members voted against the question:

Dr Helena WONG, Dr Fernando CHEUNG, Ms Alice MAK, Mr CHU
Hoi-dick, Dr Pierre CHAN and Mr Jeremy TAM.

The following member abstained:
Mr POON Siu-ping.

64. The Chairman declared that the question was not supported.

VII. Further discussion on the proposal to amend the health warnings
on packets and retail containers of tobacco products
[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)742/16-17(01), CB(2)859/16-17(11) to (14),
CB(2)880/16-17(01), CB(2)888/16-17(01) to (02), CB(2)896/16-
17(02), CB(2)899/16-17(01) to (03) and CB(2)900/16-17(01) to
(05)]

65. USFH briefed members on the supplementary information provided
by the Administration on issues raised by members and the deputations in
the previous discussions concerning its proposal to amend the health



Action

-24 -

warnings on packets and retail containers of tobacco products (“the health
warning legislative proposal), details of which were set out in the
Administration's paper (LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-17(12)).

66. Members noted the updated background brief entitled "Proposals to
amend the health warnings on packets and retail containers of tobacco
products” prepared by the LegCo Secretariat (LC Paper No. CB(2)859/16-
17(13)). Members also noted a letter dated 3 February 2017 from
Dr Pierre CHAN and 13 submissions on the subject under discussion.

67. While expressing support for the health warning legislative proposal
which had been in discussion at LegCo since 2015, Ms Alice MAK called
on the Administration to allow the seals on soft pack cigarette packets to
partly overlay the areas of the health warning, as was the practice adopted
in Thailand. USFH advised that according to paragraph 3(7) of the
Smoking (Public Health) (Notices) Order (Cap. 371B) ("the Order"), no
health warning and indication of tar and nicotine yields shall appear in such
a manner that it was obscured by any affixture to the packet or retail
container, the wrapping of the packet or retail container or any affixture to
the wrapping of the packet or retail container. The trade might consider
using transparent seals on soft pack cigarette packets or making the seal
blend in with the design of the space for displaying the brand name.

68. While expressing support for enlarging the coverage of the health
warning on the packet or retail container of the tobacco products,
Mr SHIU Ka-fai considered that the current proposal to drastically increase
the area of the health warning from covering at least 50% at present to at
least 85% of the two largest surfaces of the packet or retail container
concerned would result in intensification of the trade of counterfeit and
illicit tobacco products. This would also amount to unlawful deprivation of
intellectual property rights. USFH advised that the tobacco trade could still
display the trademark on the remaining areas (i.e. 15% of the two largest
surfaces) as well as the lateral surfaces of the packet or retail container in a
way that did not alter the distinctive character of the trademark. An
increasing number of developed countries had implemented plain
packaging. There was no evidence suggesting that increasing the size of
health warnings would lead to intensification of illicit cigarette trade.

69. Ms Alice MAK expressed concern that the Administration's proposal
to require the indication of tar and nicotine yields to appear on a surface of
a cigarette packet and retail container other than the surfaces bearing the
health warning would make the information on the tar and nicotine yields
to stand out more clearly. This might in turn create misleading perception
concerning the health risks of consuming one product as compared to




Action

-25 -

another. USFH responded that the Administration considered it necessary
to retain the indication of tar and nicotine yields to make the public aware
of the existence of such substances that were harmful to health.

70.  Mr SHIU Ka-fai urged the Administration to provide a response to
the various legal questions raised by the trade in their submissions. He
expressed dissatisfaction that the Administration did not conduct public
consultation on the health warning legislative proposal. USFH advised that
the Administration had provided detailed responses to address the concerns
raised by members and the tobacco trade in its paper for the meeting.
According to a survey conducted by the Hong Kong Council on Smoking
and Health, more than 70% of respondents supported increasing the
coverage of health warning on tobacco products.

71. Mr SHIU Ka-fai sought explanation from the Administration as to
the reason why the proposed amendment to the Order would be subject to
the negative vetting procedure under section 34 of the Interpretation and
General Clauses Ordinance. Deputy Secretary for Food and Health
(Health)2 explained that under section 18 of the Smoking (Public Health)
Ordinance (Cap. 371), the Secretary for Food and Health might by order in
the Gazette prescribe matters relating to the form of any health warning and
any indication of tar and nicotine yields and the manner in which such
matters were to be displayed, and introduce the amendments into LegCo for
negative vetting.

72.  In view of the time constraint, members agreed that discussion of the
subject would be continued at the March regular meeting.
VI1I. Any other business

73.  There being no other business, the meeting ended at 1:30 pm.

Council Business Division 2
Legislative Council Secretariat
20 July 2017




